IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 19 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By, Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID ALLEN GORE

APPELLANT

VS

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

CASE NO: 65,201

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit In and For Pinellas County, State of Florida.

Richard Saliba Saliba & McDonough PA 2121 14th Avenue Box 1690 Vero Beach, Florida 32961 (305)567-6111

ARGUMENT

- I. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO PRECLUDE THE INQUIRY OF APPELLANT'S COUNSEL DURING VOIR DIRE RELATIVE TO THE FEELINGS, ATTITUDES OR PREJUDICES OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS REGARDING THE ISSUE OF RECOMMENDATION OF MERCY---Pg 5
- II. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO ADMIT THE CONFESSION INTO EVIDENCE AS THE ADMISSION OF THE CONFESSION VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO HAVE COUNSEL PRESENT DURING CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION. --- Pg 8
- III. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO DENY VARIOUS REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS AND MOTIONS DIRECTED TO INSTRUCTIONS SUBMITTED BY APPELLANT IN TIMELY FASHION. --- Pg 14
- IV. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO PROHIBIT AND TO RESTRICT THE CLOSING ARGUMENT OF THE APPELLANT.---Pg 18
- V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO PRECLUDE DEATH AS A PENALTY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE INSTANT MATTER.---Pg 20
- VI. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL, MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND A MOTION TO PRECLUDE THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY.---Pg 22
- VII. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO DENY APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A STATEMENT OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES. ---Pg 23
- VIII. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO FAIL TO MODIFY THE APPELLANT'S SENTENCE. --- Pg 24
- IX. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED TO AVOID OR TO PREVENT A LAWFUL ARREST OR TO EFFECT ESCAPE IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 921.141(5)(E) FLORIDA STATUTES.--Pg 25
 - X. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING A MISTRIAL RELATIVE

- TO THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF GRUESOME PICTURES, THE RELEVANCY OF WHICH THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH. --- Pg 27
- XI. THE COURT ERRED BY NOT DIRECTING A VERDICT RELATIVE TO A LIFE SENTENCE AS THE STATE DID NOT ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE JUSTIFYING THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY.---Pg 28
- XII. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO PRECLUDE THE TESTIMONY OF PERRY PISANI RELATIVE TO INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS OF THE STATE'S WITNESS MICHAEL ROCK. THE ACTIONS OF THE LOWER COURT CONSTITUTED A DENIAL TO THE APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE WITNESS.---Pg 29
- XIII. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO DENY THE APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A DEMONSTRATION OF THE DISTANCE TO THE JURY FROM WHERE THE ONLY WITNESS APPARENTLY STOOD WHEN HE SAW THE MURDER.---Pg 31
- XIV. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO ENTER FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF THE DEATH SENTENCE THAT THE CRIME FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT IS TO BE SENTENCED WAS ESPECIALLY WICKED, EVIL, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL.--34
- XV. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO ALLOW THE JURY TO CONSIDER THE VARIOUS AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES HEREIN AND FURTHER IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO DETERMINE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS ADDUCED AT TRIAL TO FIND THE EXISTENCE OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.---Pg 36
- XVI. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO FIND THAT THE CRIME WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND/OR PREMEDITATED MANNER WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF MORAL LEGAL JUSTIFICATION.---Pg 36
- XVII. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO FAIL TO FIND AS A MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD NO SIGNIFICANT HISTORY OF PRIOR ACTIVITY.---Pg 38
- XVIII. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO FAIL TO FIND THAT THE CAPACITY OF THE DEFENDANT TO APPRECIATE THE CRIMINALITY OF HIS CONDUCT OR TO CONFORM HIS CONDUCT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF LAW WAS SUBSTANTIALLY IMPAIRED. --- Pg 39
- XIX. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY A MISTRIAL DUE TO THE INTENTIONAL PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WHICH OCCURED THROUGHOUT THE TRIAL.---PG 40
- XX. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO GRANT FUNDS TO APPELLANT, AN INDIGENT, FOR VARIOUS EXPERTS. --- PG. 42
- XXI. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR INDIVIDUAL SEQUESTERED VOIR DIRE DURING THE "DEATH QUALIFICATION" AND OTHER MOTIONS TO PREVENT A "PROSECUTION-PRONE" JURY.---PG. 44
- XXII THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT AND/OR TO DECLARE THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY TO BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL---PG 47

XXIII. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO FAIL TO GRANT A MISTRIAL UPON THE MISCONDUCT OF ONE OF THE JURORS WHICH WAS BROUGHT TO THE COURT'S ATTENTION IN TIMELY AND PROPER FASHION.---PG 53

XXIV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY FAILING TO REQUIRE THE STATE TO INDICATE IF THE STATE WAS PROCEEDING UPON FELONY MURDER THEORY IN CONTRAVENTION OF ENMUND V FLORIDA---PG.56

XXV. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE LOWER COURT TO RESTRICT THE APPELLANT'S VOIR DIRE RELATIVE TO THE INVOLVEMENT OF THE CO-DEFENDANT.---PG.57

XXVI. IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY A MISTRIAL UPON APPELLANT'S MOTION RELATIVE TO DETECTIVE KHEUN'S TESTIMONY IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE COURT'S PRETRIAL ORDER.---PG.59

CONCLUSION---PG 62

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE---PG 63

CITATION OF AUTHORITIES

Alford v State, 307 So.2d 433 (Fla.1975) Pg. 15, 18, 35

Anderson v State, 420 So.2d 57 (Fla.1982) Pg. 12

Barclay v State, 362 So.2d 657 (Fla.1979). Pg. 23

Bell v Ohio, 438 U.S. 637 (1978)Pg. 48, 50, 51

Blanco v State, 9 FLW 215 (Fla.1984). Pg. 15

Bottoson v State, 8 FLW 505 (Fla.1983). Pg. 14

Brumley v State, 9 FLW239 (Fla 1984) Pg. 56,57

Buckrem v State, 355 So.2d 111 (Fla.1974) PG. 28

Cannady v. State, 427 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1983) Pg. 9, 10, 11, 13

Chenault v Stynchombe, 581 F.2d 444 (5thCir.-1978) Pg.15

Coker v Georgia, 433 U.S. 584 (1977) Pg. 51

Combs v State, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla.1981), cert denied 456 U.S.
984(1982)pg 37

Coxell v State, 368 So.2d 148(Fla.1978). Pg. 30

<u>Davis v State</u>, 9 FLW 430 Fla.1984). Pg. 27

Dixon v State, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla.1973) Pg. 14, 16, 18, 34, 35, 38

<u>Downs v State</u>, 386 So.2d 788 (Fla.1980). Pg. 15

Doyle v State, 9 FLW 453 (1984) Pg. 55

Drake v State, 8 F.L.W. 427(Fla.1983) Pg.9, 12

<u>Duncan v Louisiana</u>, 391 U.S. 145 (1968) Pg. 54

<u>Dyken v State</u>, 89 So.2d 866 (Fla.1956) Pg. 28

Eddings v Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104(1982) Pg. 36

Edwards v Arizona, 51U.S.477 (1981). Pg. 11, 12

<u>Elledge v State</u>, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla.1977) Pg. 14

Enmund v Florida, 102 S.Ct. 3368 (1982). Pg. 20, 21, 56

Fleming v State, 374 So.2d 954(FLa.1979) Pg. 36

Flowers v State, 351 So.2d 764 (3DCA-1977) Pg. 61

Foster v State, 255 So.2d 533 (1DCA-1971) Pg. 47

Furman v Georgia, 408 U.S. 241 (1972). Pg. 51

Garcia v State, 351 So.2d 1098 (Fla.1982). Pg.12

Gardner v Florida, 97 S.Ct. 1107(1977). Pg. 23, 24

Glatstein v Grund, 51 N.W.2d 145 (1968) Pg. 54

Godfrey v Georgia, 100 S.Ct. 1759 (1980). Pg. 18

Gonzalez v State, 9FLW 1121 (3DCA-1984) Pg. 41

Grant v State, 171 S6.2d 361(Fla.1965) Pg. 41

Gregg v Georgia, 96 S.Ct. 2909 (1976) Pg. 23,52

Halliwell v State, 323 So.2d 557 (Fla.1975). Pg. 18, 28, 34, 35

Harper v State, 411 So.2d 235 (3DCA-1982) Pg. 42

Harris v State, 414 So. 2d 557 (3DCA-1982) Pg. 42

Hill v State, 422 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1982). Pg. 15,17

<u>Hisler v State</u>, 42 So. 692(Fla.1906). Pg. 32

Hovey v Superior Court of Alameda County, 616 P.2d 1301 (Cal.1980) Pg. 45, 46

In Re Davis, 83 A.2d 590(1951) Pg. 54

Jacobs v State, 396 So.2d 696 (Fla.1978) Pg. 16

<u>Jent v State</u>, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla.1981) Pg. 15, 37

Johnson v State, 8 FLW 460 (Fla.1983) Pg. 33

<u>Kampff v State</u>, 371 So.2d 1007(Fla.1979) Pg. 28

Land v State, 293 So.2d 704 (Fla.1974). Pg. 49

Langton v State, 9 FLW 639 (2DCa-1984) Pg. 60

Lewis v State, 377 So.2d 640 (Fla.1980). Pg. 18, 28, 35

Lockett v Ohio, 98 S.Ct. 295 (1978) Pg 16, 36, 48, 50, 51

<u>Lucas v State</u>, 376 So.2d 1149(Fla.1979) Pg. 35

Mallaney v Wilbur, 21 U.S. 68 (1975) Pg. 14, 16, 49

Malloy v Hogan, 378 U.S. 1 (1964) Pg. 54

McClendon v State, 105 So. 406 (Fla.1925) Pg. 33

McKahan v Baltimore & O.R. Railroad, 72 A. 251(1909) Pg.54

McMillian v State, 409 So. 2d 197 (3DCA-1982) Pg. 42

Meeks v_State, 339 So.2d 186 (Fla.1976) Pg. 17

Menard v State, 8 FLW 2655 (4DCA-1983) Pg. 60

Menendez v State, 368 So.2d 1278 (Fla.1979) Pg. 25, 26

Morgan v State, 9 FLW 293 (Fla.1984) Pg. 19, 58

Nash v Estelle, 597 F.2d 513 (5Cir-1979) Pg 10

Oats v State, 446 So.2d 90(Fla.1984) Pg. 26, 35

Pait v State, 112 So.2d 380 (Fla.1950) Pg. 41

Peek_v State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla.1980). Pg. 40

People v_Brown, 132 Cal.Rptr. 217 (1976) Pg. 54

<u>Peterson v. State</u>, 372 So.2d 1017 (aff'd 382 So.2d 701) (Fla.1980) Pg. 9

Phillips v State, 59 N.W.2d 598(1953) Pg. 54

Poole v State, 19 So.2d 903 (Fla.-1967) Pg.6, 58

Porter v State, 410 So.2d 164 (3DCA-1981) Pg. 24

Proffit v Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (Fla.1976) Pg. 52

Provence v State, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla.1976) Pg. 15

Reddish v State, 167 So.2d 858 (Fla.1964) Pg. 27

Rembert v State, 9 FLW 58 (Fla.1984). Pg. 15, 37

Rice v State, 9 FLW 1374 (2DCA-1984). Pg. 9

Riley v State, 366 So.2d 19 (Fla.1979). Pg. 18, 25, 26, 35

Rolle v State, 449 So.2d 1297 (4DCA-1984). Pg. 54

Russ v State, 95 So.2d 59 (Fla.1957) Pg.55

Salvatore v State, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla.1978) Pg. 28

Silling v State, 414 So.2d 1182 (1DCA-1982) Pg. 13

Snyder v Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97 (1958) Pg. 54 Songer v State, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla.1978) Pg. 16 <u>Specht v Patterson,</u> 386 U.S. 605 (1967) Pg. 30 State v Pinder, 375 So.2d 836 (Fla.1979). Pg. 25 State v Reynolds, 238 So.2d 598 (Fla.1970) Pg. 47 State v. Hegstrom, 401 So.2d 1343 (Fla.1983) Pg. 24 <u>Sullivan v State</u>, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla.1974) Pg. 28 Tedder v State, 322 So.2d 908 (FLa.1975) Pg. 28 Thomas v State, 403 So.2d 372 (Fla.1981) Pg. 6,7 Trafficante v State, 92 So.2d 811 (Fla.1957) Pg. 60 <u>United States v Modica</u>, 663 F.2d. 1173 (2dCir.1981). Pg. 42 United States v Wade, 388 U.S. 218 (1967) Pg. 30 Washington v State, 432 So.2d 44(Fla.1983) Pg. 37 White v. State, 403 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1981). Pg. 14 Young v State, 234 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1970). Pg. 27 Zant v State, 103 S.Ct. 2733(1983) Pg. 17, 18 Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.220(a)(1)(vi) Pg.40

- s. 755.082 <u>Florida Statutes</u> Pg. 48, 51
- s. 782.04 Florida Statues Pg. 48, 51
- s.922.10 Florida Statutes, Pg. 50
- s. 921.141 Florida Statutes, Pg. 48, 51
- s. 921.141(5)(b) Florida Statutes, Pg. 16
- s. 921.141(5)(e) Florida Statutes Pg. 23
- s. 921.141(5)(h) Florida Statutes, Pg. 17
- s. 921.141(5)(i) Florida Statutes, Pg. 17
- s. 921.141(6) Florida Statutes, Pg 17
- s.921.141(1) Florida Statutes, Pg. 40, 51

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, DAVID ALLEN GORE, was the Defendant in the Lower Court and Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecutor in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Indian River County, Florida in this cause. Appellant will be referred to in this brief as the "Defendant" or as "Appellant". The Appellee will be referred to as the "State" or as the "Prosecutor". The symbol "R" followed by the page number will be used in this brief to designate the reference to the record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicated by the Grand Jury of Indian River County, Florida. The Grand Jury charged him with a six count indictment including first degree murder.

Various motions were filed and entertained by the Lower Court. One of the motions granted was a change in venue and the trial was held in Pinellas County, Florida. Motions for Judgment of Acquittal were timely made and ultimately denied. Various motions for mistrial were also submitted to the Court and denied. The jury returned verdicts of guilty and the Court proceeded with the penalty phase. The jury returned an advisory verdict recommending the death penalty and the trial court sentenced the Appellant to death and filed findings in support of the death sentence.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed. The Public Defender for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit filed a motion to withdraw from representing the Appellant on appeal pursuant to order of this Court. Private counsel was appointed by the Lower Court to represent the Appellant on this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 26, 1983, the Defendant and his cousin observed two (2) hitchikers on A1A in Indian River County, Florida. They stopped and picked them up. (R-1780). The driver, Appellant's cousin, Frederick Waterfield, introduced both of them to the girls. (R-1780). While they were driving the glove compartment opened and a gun was observed. (R-1782). Appellant then took the gun and pointed it at one of the girls. (R-1782). The girls' wrists were handcuffed by the Appellant. (R-1785). The girls were then driven to the home where Appellant was residing and the girls were taken into the home. (R-1786).87). It was then that Appellant allegedly committed sexual battery upon the two girls. (R-1799). One of the girls, Lynn Elliott, escaped and ran out the door. A young boy, Michael Rock, testified he heard screaming and saw the girl shot under the palm tree. (R-1962). This young man testified that the person who shot the girl had a mustache. (R-1991). However, when he first spoke with the police this young man stated that he could not see the assailaint's face. (R537). The girl's body into the trunk of the car in the driveway. Soon the police arrived and surrounded the home. Appellant surrendered and was immediately taken into custody. A statement was elicited from Appellant while he was in custody and after he had requested an attorney, but before counsel was provided. (R-1222).

The Grand Jury of Indian River County returned a six count indictment and trial was held before the Honorable L.B. Vocelle presiding. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as to all counts and then rendered an advisory sentence eleven to one that the death sentence be imposed.

It is from the verdicts of guilt as to each count of the indictment and it is as to the advisory sentence rendered by the jury form which the Appellant appeals to this Court.

POINT ONE

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO PRECLUDE THE INQUIRY OF APPELLANT'S COUNSEL DURING VOIR DIRE RELATIVE TO THE FEELINGS, ATTITUDES OR PREJUDICES OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS REGARDING THE ISSUE OF RECOMMENDATION OF MERCY.

The Trial Court committed reversible error by refusing to allow the Appellant's counsel to inquire of the various jurors relative to their feelings, attitudes, or prejudices regarding the issue of recommendation of mercy. The specific question the Appellant's counsel directed to the jurors was as follows:

- "...Concerning the death penalty, is there someone here that feels so strongly in favor of the death penalty that you would never under any circumstances be able to recommend mercy in a case in which the defendant was convicted of first degree murder?..."
- ..Mr Stone: Your Honor, I will enter an objection and ask to approach the bench, please.(R1594 L5-14)

The Court stated relative to this question:

"...Of course, what we're doing here, gentlemen, with all due respect, we're getting into the lawyers making comments on what the law is..."(R1595 L17-19).

"...Mr Long: Your Honor, I would cite Poole versus State,... 194 So.2d 903, which says examination as to whether any of them felt that they would under no circumstances consider the possibility of a mercy recommendation..."(R1595 L9-17).

"...The Court: If they're so strong in their belief at this point. Mercy is not involved...The objection is sustained as not a valid instruction to the law..."(R1596 L12,13,15,16).

The Lower Court erred by refusing to allow the Appellant's Attorney to inquire of the Jurors. By refusing to allow the

Appellant's counsel to raise this inquiry the Trial Court committed reversible error.

Such is the holding of this Court in the case of <u>Poole v</u>

<u>State</u>, 194 So.2d 903 (Fla.-1967). Therein this court

specifically stated:

- ".. The transcript of record on appeal reveals that in the present case defense counsel was not seeking to determine the specific question of whether the prospective jurors would or wuld not grant mercy but, rather whether any of them felt that they would "under no circumstances" consider the possibility of mercy. We believe this to be a valid and proper inquiry concerning an issue which our State has recognized by statutes..." (Poole v State, supra at page 904)
- "....We do feel however that the trial judge erred in refusing to allow defense counsel to propound any inquiry as to the issue of mercy. Such inquiry in the context of the instant case, could conceivably be determinative of whether the defense should challenge a juror either for cause or premptorily. We have never held, nor do we hold now, that to be qualifed a juror must state that he will, or even that he could grant mercy to one shown to be guilty of a capital crime. But neither should it be held improper to question a prospective juror as to whether he wouldnever under any circumstances be able to recommend mercy in such a case. Because of the unrestricted discretion available to a juror in recommending mercy, we think it extremely important to an accused to know whether a juror would dogmatically refuse to consider the possibility of mercy. While Rollins, supra, holds that a juror's position against recommending mercy will not support a challenge for cause, it does not in any way affect the exercise of a peremptory challenge. We are of the opinion that inquiry should be permitted to enable the accused to ascertain the attitude of a prospective juror on the subject of mercy, and certainly a juror completely adverse to a mercy recommendation might well be a fitting subject of a peremptory challenge..."(Poole v State, supra at page 905).

In Thomas v State, 403 So.2d 372 (Fla.-1981) this issue

of mercy was analyzed by this Court from a different legal perspective. In essence this Court specifically stated that:

- "...We have previously held that it was <u>error</u> for a trial judge to refuse to allow defense counsel to propound any voir dire inquiry as to the issue of mercy, since such inquiry...could conceivably be determinative of whether the defense should challenge a juror-either or cause or peremptorily..."(Thomas v State, supra at page 376)(emphasis supplied.)
- "...Federal Courts have considered this precise question at least twice, and on both occasions have found that jurors with pre-dispositions concerning sentencing in capital cases should have been excused. See Stroud v United States, 251 U.S. 15, 40 S.Ct. 50, 64 L.Ed. 103 (1919), reh. denied, 251 U.S. 380, 40 S.Ct. 176, 64 L.Ed. 317 (1920); Crawford v Bounds, 395 F.2d. 297, 304 (4th Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 397 U)S) 936, 90 S.Ct. 941, 25 L.Ed.2d 117(1970).

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