IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 65,201

)

)

DAVID ALLEN GORE, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

:

SID J. WHITE JAN **8** 1985 CLERK SUPREME COURT By_

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GREGORY C. SMITH Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. An examination of the transcript of voir dire shows that the jurors agreed they would follow the law as instructed by the Court. The appellant has not preserved for review the question of whether it was error to disallow the question concerning the codefendant.

2. The trial court correctly denied the motion to suppress the appellant's statement, having found it was voluntarily made. The appellant waived his right to counsel.

3. The two photographs of the victim's body were properly admitted into evidence because they were relevant to issues at the trial.

4. The trial court's ruling refusing to allow a demonstration of the distance of 356 feet in downtown St. Petersburg was within its discretion.

5. The appellant's failure to lay a predicate for introduction of a prior inconsistent statement was a valid ground supporting the trial court's ruling disallowing the testimony of a witness concerning the statement.

6. The trial court did not err in denying the appellant's motion for mistrial, because Detective Kuehn properly testified about the appellant's responses to the <u>Miranda</u> warnings.

7. The jury selection process was in accordance with <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510 (1968). The appellant has failed to show the court erred in its rulings in this regard.

8. The prosecutor did not engage in misconduct. His single reference to the victim's parents was not prejudicial, and there was no discovery violation concerning the bullets in the trouser pocket.

9. Florida's death penalty statute is constitutional. The appellant's arguments to the contrary have previously been rejected by this Court and the Federal courts.

10. The evidence of appellant's guilt, which included an eyewitness identification, was strong; hence, the trial court did not err in denying his motions for acquittal, to preclude the death penalty, and for new trial.

11. The appellant was adequately notified by the statute of the applicable aggravating circumstances; the state did not have to furnish him with a separate list prior to trial.

12. The trial court did not err in failing to direct a verdict of life - see Points 10 and 17.

13. <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, 458 U.S. 782 (1982) does not require imposition of a life sentence in this case, since the evidence showed the appellant personally committed the murder.

14. The trial court properly instructed the jury during the sentencing phase of the trial in accordance with the applicable law.

15. The curative instruction given by the court when a juror had a slight seizure was adequate to cure any prejudice and the defense motion for mistrial was properly denied.

16. The trial court correctly sustained the state's objection to an incorrect statement of the law made by defense counsel during closing argument in the penalty phase. Counsel should not be permitted to misstate the law, for this would confuse the jury and might cause them to disregard the legal instructions given by the court.

17. The death penalty was appropriate in the appellant's case. The evidence sufficiently supports the aggravating factor that the crime was committed to avoid arrest because it was committed when the sexual battery victim attempted to escape from the premises where the appellant had confined her. Had she escaped, she would have been able to report the sexual battery to the police and also to get help for her friend who was still confined in the house. Likewise, the evidence showed the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel. The victim was kidnapped, bound, sexually battered, and murdered as she was trying to escape. Even if this Court reduces the number of aggravating circumstances, the death sentence should still be affirmed since there are no mitigating factors. The factor that the murder was committed in a cold and calculated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification is supported by the evidence that the victim was slain execution style and the appellant threatened the surviving witness with death.

As to mitigating factors, the appellant's prior conviction supports the trial court's finding that the appellant did not have an insignificant criminal history. There was no evidence to show that the appellant lacked the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his acts.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SUSTAINED THE STATE'S OBJECTIONS TO TWO QUESTIONS POSED BY APPELLEE ON VOIR DIRE OF THE JURY.

Appellee will deal with issues 1 and 25 of appellant's brief in a consolidated manner since they both concern the scope of voir dire examination.

Appellant first alleges that the trial court committed reversible error in failing to allow him to question the prospective jury concerning those persons unalterably <u>in favor</u> of the death penalty. For this proposition, appellant cites <u>Poole v. State</u>, 194 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1967), and <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1981).

In <u>Thomas</u>, this Court reversed the conviction and ordered a new trial when it was shown that a juror sitting on defendant's jury was unalterably in favor of imposing the death penalty without regard to the law given to him by the trial court. Certainly, when a juror indicates that he will not follow the law as given to him by the trial court, there is grave concern for the fairness of the trial. However, in the instant case, there was never any hint that any juror would be unable to follow the law as given to him by the trial court. The distinction is, of course, that the juror in question in <u>Thomas</u> clearly stated on the record that he would not follow the laws given to him.

It is interesting to note that the state attorney questioned the jury concerning their attitudes towards the death penalty as follows:

MR. STONE: Okay. Let me ask those of you who believe in the death penalty

as an alternative, do you believe that it should just automatically be imposed or would you follow the court's instructions and make sure that the circumstances would prove it before you would consider it? Would you? (R 1573).

No juror indicated that he would put aside the judge's instruction. Since the juror's response to that question did not indicate a bias towards the death penalty, this Court's decision in <u>Fitzpatrick</u> <u>v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1983), not <u>Thomas</u>, <u>supra</u>, should be applied. In Fitzpatrick, this Court stated:

> In this case none of the four veniremen ever indicated that he was unalterably opposed to recommending life sentences for convicted murders. Their statements only indicated a tendency toward being in favor of the death penalty. 'A man who opposes the death penalty, no less than one who favors it, can make the discretionary judgment entrusted to him by the state and can thus obey the oath he takes as a juror.' Witherspoon v. Illinos [citation omitted] [emphasis supplied] at page 1075.

Clearly, the jury was repeatedly asked whether they could follow the law as given to them. Since appellant cannot show that his jury was made up of one or more persons unalterably in favor of the death penalty, no error appears.

Concerning the second issue relating to voir dire, the state would note that there was never an objection made to the disallowance of the question concerning co-defendant Waterfield. In <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979), this Court has held that acquiescence in the court's ruling is a failure to preserve the issue for appellate review. This court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law. Under the circumstances, the trial judge was not required to make further inquiries. Lucas at page 1152.

Appellant asked the objected to question, the court sustained the state's objection, and appellant said nothing further. Appellant has therefore failed to preserve this issue for appellate review.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS.

Appellant charges that the trial court erred in two respects: first, that the court improperly denied his motion to suppress, and secondly, that in denying the motion, the court made an insufficient finding. Appellant is mistaken as to both issues. In order to show that the trial court made an appropriate ruling the state will show the finding which was made by the trial court thus rebutting appellant's second contention.

> THE COURT: ... and the evidence is that he was an auxiliary police officer. That he had education, experience with reference to arrest etc. Whether or not he made an intelligent waiver of his right to counsel during his statement, in the court's opinion he was given Miranda at the Indian River County Jail, and he stated that he did wish to proceed without a lawyer and did proceed and did intelligently answer the questions. And it was only after some more incrimin-ating statements were beginning to be asked that he at that time asked for counsel and stated I believe he did not want to proceed further without counsel and the interrogation did, of course, cease. So, the motion to suppress the statement will be denied, and it would be denied during this course of the trial. (R 1364-1365)

THE COURT: Well, let me make my ruling specific so there would be no misunderstanding of what I am doing. I am stating that there was an intelligent waiver of the right of counsel, intelligently done at the Indian River County Jail wherein Mr. Gore specifically stated after Miranda that he wished to proceed without counsel. (R 1369-1370).

*

*

In making his ruling, the trial court cited to <u>Cannady</u> <u>v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1983), which is also cited by appellant in his initial brief. Under appellant's interpretation of the evidence, defendant stated in a confusing fashion that he wanted a lawyer and the police officers were thus required to clarify this intention before asking further questions. Instead, the facts show that when first arrested appellant said "I want to get something off my chest and then see a lawyer." (R 1222). When appellant reached the police station to "get something off my chest" he was again given Miranda warnings as reflected by the taped statement. Appellant voluntarily made the remarks. At one point, he said that he then wished to speak to a lawyer. It is conceded that anything said after that request was appropriately suppressible. But the statements made before that time are fully admissible.

It was not the duty of the arresting officer to convince defendant that he wants an attorney. <u>State v. Craig</u>, 237 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1970), <u>Palmes v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1981). As the trial court found, appellant had knowledge and training which gave him a full understanding of the rights available to him. His experience as an auxiliary deputy sheriff certainly gave him exposure to "Miranda" warnings, and their import.

Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), is not violated by the admission of this confession simply because at no time did appellant indicate that he wanted to speak to an attorney before he "got something off his chest."

Appellant's claim that the trial court made insufficient findings of voluntariness under <u>Peterson v. State</u>, 372 So.2d 1017

(Fla. 1979), is meritless. This court in Peterson held,

The effect of the cases discussed above is not that a simple denial of suppression by the judge is an inadequate finding, but that if such a general denial is made, the record of the proceedings must disclose that the ruling was based on a finding by the judge that the confession was voluntary. At page 1020.

The above quoted language in the trial court's finding satisfies the <u>Peterson</u> standard as well as being legally sufficient for the finding of voluntary confession.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED NECESSARY GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPHS INTO EVIDENCE.

Appellant alleges that the trial court improperly allowed the admission of two unfairly prejudicial photos: State's Exhibit 5 showing the body of the victim in the trunk of the car, and State's Exhibit 10 showing the hands of the victim tied behind her back (R 829).

Both of these photos were admitted as relevant and after each was admitted the judge gave a cautionary instruction (R 2168, 2205). This court has stated:

> [T]he current position of this court is that allegedly gruesome and inflammatory photographs are admissible into evidence if relevant to any issue required to be proven in a case. Relevancy is to be determined in a normal manner, that is, without regard to any special characterization of the proffered evidence. Under this conception, the issues of 'whether cumulative,' or 'whether photographed away from the scene,' are routine issues basic to a determination of relevancy, and not issues arising from any 'exceptional nature' of the proffered evidence.

<u>State v. Wright</u>, 265 So.2d 361, 362 (Fla. 1972). <u>See also Bush</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, (Case No. 62,947 decided November 29, 1984), and cases cited therein.

State's Exhibit 5 was relevant for two reasons. First, it placed the body of the victim in appellant's father's car, access to which arguably Waterfield would not have had. Secondly, number 5 showed the condition of the body when it was first discovered by police officers (R 2164, 2165, 2347). Exhibit 10 showed that there was considerable pain inflicted by defendant in

binding the victim and also is consistent with demonstrating that when the victim was running and fell, she could not brace her fall, thus there were substantial further injuries from the fall (R 2349, 2350).

Since these photos were relevant, they were admissible and no error appears below.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISALLOWED APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A DEMONSTRATION, IN DOWNTOWN ST. PETERSBURG, OF THE DISTANCE OF 356 FEET.

During the course of the testimony of James M. Smith, a civil engineer, appellant attempted to provide a demonstration of the distance 356 feet by having that distance measured out in downtown St. Petersburg (R 2681). The state attorney objected on the ground that the area of St. Petersburg was quite different from the actual cite where Michael Rock observed the murder of Lynn Elliott.

Appellant now claims that the trial court's refusal to allow the demonstration was error. The state disagrees.

Distance is something within the ordinary knowledge of a juror. The average juror does not need to be shown that 356 feet is a substantial distance, but to take the jurors into the streets of St. Petersburg in order for them to test their powers of observation at 356 feet is unnecessary and irrelevant. The witness, Michael Rock, could be, and was, questioned concerning his distance from the murder. The disallowance of this demonstration is within the discretion of the trial court, and no abuse occurred below.

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